FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 11/27/2018 8:00 AM

96575-7

Court of Appeals Case No. 49263-6-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Port of Tacoma, Economic Development Board for Tacoma-Pierce County, Tacoma-Pierce County Chamber, City of Tacoma,

Respondents,

v.

Save Tacoma Water,

Appellant,

and

John and Jane Does 1-5 (Individual sponsors and officers of Save Tacoma Water), Donna Walters, Sherry Bockwinkel, City of Tacoma, Julie Anderson in her official capacity as Pierce County Auditor,

Defendants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. Identity of Petitioners

Save Tacoma Water asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

Save Tacoma Water is a grassroots all-volunteer organization dedicated to ensuring sustainable water use in Tacoma. After studying the methanol plant proposal (where a single industrial user would have used as much municipal water per day as all of Tacoma's residents combined) and seeing their governments refuse to question the sustainability of this

² In 2015, this Court stated that Washington courts have not "answer[ed] the question of whether subject matter, substantive, or procedural preelection review of an initiative implicates the First Amendment to the United States Constitution or article I, section 5 of our constitution." *Huff v. Wyman*, 184 Wn.2d 643, 655, 361 P.3d 727 (2015).

water use, Save Tacoma Water drafted and circulated two initiatives in the City of Tacoma in 2016, collecting nearly 17,000 signatures to qualify the initiatives for the ballot. Whether those initiatives should go on the ballot is the subject of this appeal.

B. Court of Appeals Decision

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court veto, and in so doing ignored or misstated the foundational substantive issues of separation of powers and political rights that Save Tacoma Water raised against the legitimacy of judicial vetoes of citizen initiatives. Essentially, the Court of Appeals reasoned that this Court has been authorizing judicial vetoes for a long time, so it must be ok.

Save Tacoma Water filed a Motion for Reconsideration (in the Appendix to this Petition at A-29 to A-48). That Motion first noted that the Court of Appeals had ignored issues raised by Save Tacoma Water that needed to be addressed prior to upholding the trial court's judicial veto. Then the bulk of the Motion for Reconsideration addressed the Court of Appeal's misapplication of *Angle v. Miller*, 673 F.3d 1122 (9th Cir. 2012), as authority for the Court of Appeal's holding that the First Amendment is not implicated when considering government actions that pose a severe burden on the initiative process. The Court of Appeals denied the Motion for Reconsideration without comment.

3

Save Tacoma Water seeks review by this Court of all parts of the Court of Appeals decision, as these issues all concern the legitimacy of the judicial veto power and its application to these initiatives. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-14 through A-28. A copy of the order denying Save Tacoma Water's motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at page A-49.

C. Issues Presented for Review

This Court created pre-election substantive / subject matter³ review of citizen initiatives and authorized judicial veto orders keeping duly-qualified initiatives off the ballot. But it did so without considering that such review impermissibly infringes the peoples' constitutional political speech and petition rights and violates the separation of powers doctrine. Currently, the Court has not addressed the following issues, which Save Tacoma Water raised and preserved in this case:

 Does preelection judicial veto of proposed legislation by the people violate separation of powers because it is undisputed that the Court would never entertain a similar pre-enactment lawsuit against a city council for attempting to pass an ordinance since a lawsuit seeking judicial review must wait until the proposed law is a law?

³ *See infra* at 10.

- Does a judicial order that shuts down meaningful political discussion about a policy idea severely burden the First Amendment speech rights of the initiative proponents and the electorate as a whole?
- 3. Does Washington Constitution Article I, Section 5, which this Court has previously held to provide more protection for political expression than the First Amendment, and which states in its entirety that "Every person may freely speak, write and publish *on all subjects*, being responsible for the abuse of that right" (emphasis added), require strict scrutiny review when a court vetoes an initiative precisely because of the subject of the initiative?
- 4. Does the people of Tacoma's right of local community self-government protect the people's inherent power to make laws to protect their rights, health, safety, and welfare?
- 5. *Arguendo*, if the Court can judge the substantive constitutionality of a proposed initiative pre-election, do the rules of statutory construction apply, namely, a high beyond-a-reasonable-doubt burden to prove unconstitutionality, presumptions and assumptions in favor of constitutionality, and not entertaining hypotheticals that would show unconstitutionality?

5

D. Statement of the Case

Save Tacoma Water circulated two initiatives in the spring of 2016. (CP 563, 585.) Both initiatives sought the same substantive policy change: ensure a democratic check on industrial water applications to Tacoma Public Utilities, by adding a popular vote requirement to any industrial water use application over one million gallons per day. (CP 28, 31.) (Currently, there is only one such user, and the proposed law grandfathers that user in. (*Id*.)) One initiative would amend the city charter, the other initiative proposed an ordinance. (*Id*.) Save Tacoma Water collected nearly 17,000 signatures on the initiative petitions in three months, with all volunteers. (CP 585, ¶ 14.)

Before Save Tacoma Water even turned in the signed petition forms, the Port of Tacoma, the Tacoma-Pierce County Economic Development Board, and the Tacoma-Pierce County Chamber sued Save Tacoma Water, named and unnamed members of Save Tacoma Water, the City of Tacoma, and the County Auditor, seeking a declaratory judgment and an injunction preventing the initiatives from appearing on the ballot. (CP 1, 563, 584-86.) The City promptly joined the Plaintiffs. (CP 32, 70.)

Save Tacoma Water responded with a Motion to Dismiss, which challenged the trial court's authority to do "judicial review" of *proposed* laws as a violation of separation of powers and the principles of judicial restraint, and also argued that a trial court order enjoining the initiatives from appearing on the ballot violated core political rights in the First and Fourteenth Amendments and the Washington Constitution, as such an order is a content-based prior-restraint of core political speech, and also infringes the people's right of petition. (CP 595 *et seq.*)

Three weeks after the Plaintiffs filed their Complaint, the trial court denied Save Tacoma Water's Motion to Dismiss and granted a permanent injunction vetoing the initiatives off the ballot. (CP 672 *et seq.* and RP 53:5-56:11.) Save Tacoma Water appealed. (CP 679, 690.)

E. Argument Why Review Should be Accepted

The issues presented for review have not been addressed by this Court and thus this Court has not justified its self-appointed authority to wade into the people's legislative process and kill the people's proposed legislation before it goes to a vote. This Court has not explained why judicial veto orders are not state action that infringes political rights and is therefore subject to strict scrutiny. *Huff v. Wyman, supra* fn. 2. This Court has not explained why judicial review cannot wait until the proposed initiative becomes law and is challenged in a proper case – with real facts.

As a result, the judicial veto power effectively makes the courts into a political branch of government. When initiative opponents anticipate that the proposed initiative might win at the ballot, they bring an

7

action in court to get a judge to veto it before the people even get to vote. This is not a legitimate role for the courts.

Specifically, this Court should accept review for the following reasons, all of which are both "a significant question of law under" our constitutional structure, and "issue[s] of substantial public interest that should be determined by" this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

I. The judicial veto violates separation of powers by invading the people's legislative process.

This issue is fundamental to the well-being of our democracy, as it concerns one branch of government exercising the powers of another branch of government, and notably, the infringing branch is also the branch with the power to say whether its actions actually violate separation of powers.

Here, this Court has given itself the power to veto duly-qualified proposed legislation by the people. We all recognize that the Court would never tell the state legislature or a city council that it cannot enact proposed legislation. Since the origin of judicial review in 1803, the Court's role is to say what the law is, not to say what proposed laws *might* be. But since 1916, this Court has been unable to restrain itself from ruling on proposed laws when they are proposed by the people through the initiative process.⁴ An illegitimate and unjustified practice is

⁴ Back in 1916, the Court was more frank about its disdain for the initiative process, referring to it as the product of unfounded "distrust and dislike of" legislatures and

not made right through the passage of time, or repeated applications.

Yet that erroneous conclusion is found in the Court of Appeals Opinion, when it held that this Court must have addressed separation of powers since the Court has been authorizing the judicial veto for a long time. (Op. at 7 (stating that *Spokane Entrepreneurial Ctr. v. Spokane Moves to Amend the Constitution*, 185 Wn.2d 97, 104, 369 P.3d 140 (2016), *Our Water-Our Choice! v. City of Port Angeles*, 170 Wn.2d 1, 7, 239 P.3d 589 (2010), *Coppernoll v. Reed*, 155 Wn.2d 290, 297, 119 P.3d 318 (2005), and *Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council v. City of Seattle*, 94 Wn.2d 740, 746, 620 P.2d 82 (1980), "implicitly hold that their analyses observe the proper separation of powers").)

A matter as important as judicial invasion of the people's

legislative power is not to be left to purported implicit holdings.⁵ But more

calling the initiative itself "the primitive system of direct legislation." *State ex rel. Berry v. Super. Ct. Thurston Cnty.*, 92 Wash. 16, 22, 159 P. 92, 93 (1916). Apparently, the Court did not share the populist and progressive anti-corporate sentiments of the people of Washington and its localities, who put those sentiments into constitutional form that the Court should be bound to respect. (*See* STW Br. at 23-30.)

Further, the concept of "implicit holdings" used by the Court of Appeals is likely not consistent with Washington law, and thus demands review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1). See In re Stockwell, 179 Wn.2d 588, 316 P.3d 1007 (2014) ("Where the literal words of a court opinion appear to control an issue, but where the court did not in fact address or consider the issue, the ruling is not dispositive and may be reexamined without violating stare decisis in the same court or without violating an intermediate appellate court's duty to accept the rulings of the Supreme Court. An opinion is not authority for what is not mentioned therein" (quotations and citations omitted)); State v. Rudolph, 141 Wn. App. 59, 70, 168 P.3d 430 (2007) (recalling a Supreme Court "admonition" that lower courts should not treat as dispositive the higher court's rulings that do not answer the questions presented in the case at bar (quotations and citations omitted)); and, regarding the theory for stare decisis analysis, Windust v. Dept. of Labor and Indus., 52 Wn.2d 33, 323 P.2d 241 (1958).

to the point, this Court has not actually addressed this issue. For example, this Court's recent justification for the justiciability of the judicial veto action was that "our limits on preelection review ensure that we do not address the substantive validity of a statute before it is enacted." *Spokane Entrepreneurial*, 185 Wn.2d at 105, 369 P.3d 140.

But in spite of these purported limits, the holding in *Spokane Entrepreneurial* then opened the door to a judicial veto for any reason, because the Court deemed any potentially unconstitutional measure to be "beyond the scope of the initiative power." *Id.* at 104, 110. In short, there is no longer a difference between "subject matter" and "substantive," which is the claimed difference that purportedly justifies judicial vetoes.

The rule as it now stands is that initiative opponents can bring any legal challenge to a qualified local initiative proposal to get a judge to veto it from appearing on the ballot. Thus, here, the trial court entertained hypothetical preemption and constitutional arguments in order to veto the proposed initiatives from appearing on the ballot, which the Court of Appeals affirmed. There are no "limits on preelection review [that] ensure that [courts] do not address the substantive validity of a statute before it is enacted," *id.* at 105, even though those purported limits are what this Court has said make the judicial veto legit and justiciable in the first place.

But all this raises a more fundamental question of why the

10

Court can veto proposed initiatives for being *ultra vires*, but obviously would not be able to enjoin a vote of legislative representatives on the exact same measure. The Court has never addressed this question, which is at the heart of the judicial veto's legitimacy.

II. Judicial veto orders are subject to strict scrutiny as they severely burden the people's fundamental political rights.

The Court of Appeals Opinion failed to apply strict scrutiny, as required by *Angle*, *Collier*, and *Meyer*, regardless of whether the trial court's judicial veto was content-based or content-neutral.

The express text of Washington Constitution Article I, Section 5, does not allow subject based restrictions: "Every person may freely speak, write and publish *on all subjects*, being responsible for the abuse of that right" (emphasis added). Issues 2 and 3 below arise under both the state and federal constitutions. Each of the following issues independently require that the courts apply strict scrutiny to judicial veto orders.

1. The Court of Appeals Opinion misstates the holding in *Angle* and therefore dramatically minimizes First Amendment protections for the citizen initiative power.

The Court of Appeal's Opinion misapplies a sentence from *Angle* – and by so doing, severely limits First Amendment protections for initiative lawmaking. *Angle* does not stand for the assertion that the Opinion uses it for – that the First Amendment does not limit government interference with the initiative power – and therefore the Court of Appeal's

Published Opinion risks confusing established First Amendment case law.

Save Tacoma Water discussed this issue extensively in its Motion for Reconsideration before the Court of Appeals, and incorporates that argument here (A-33 to A-44), with a summary below.

Angle does contain a sentence that can be read out of context to suggest that the First Amendment does not apply to initiatives. That is what the Court of Appeals did here. But the *Angle* court goes on to hold that "[r]egulations that make it more difficult to qualify an initiative for the ballot . . . may indirectly impact core political speech [and t]hus, as applied to the initiative process, we assume that ballot access restrictions place a severe burden on core political speech, and trigger strict scrutiny, when they significantly inhibit the ability of initiative proponents to place initiatives on the ballot." *Angle*, 673 F.3d at 1133.

The First Amendment analysis in *Angle* did not end with "[t]here is no First Amendment right to place an initiative on the ballot." *Id.* But unfortunately, that is where the Court of Appeals ended its analysis. (Op. at 13.) The Opinion thereby reduces the protection of the First Amendment, in conflict with Ninth Circuit precedent.

The judicial veto power clearly "significantly inhibit[s] the ability of initiative proponents to place initiatives on the ballot," and therefore triggers strict scrutiny under the First Amendment. *See Angle*,

673 F.3d at 1133.6

2. The Court of Appeals Opinion vetoed the initiatives precisely because of their content, yet the Court of appeals ruled that its action was not content-based.

The Court of Appeal's Opinion holds that looking at the text of

an initiative to decide whether to veto it from appearing on the ballot is not

a content-based decision. (Op. at 14.⁷) This holding cannot be reconciled

with the content-based versus content-neutral jurisprudence framework.⁸

That distinction between content-based and content-neutral

restrictions is often foundational in First Amendment jurisprudence. The

United States Supreme Court has held that "above all else, the First

⁶ While other federal circuit courts are split on the issue, Appellant has found no Ninth Circuit case directly addressing the subject matter issue, and thus the rule in *Angle* should control here in Washington as it is the Ninth Circuit's application of the First Amendment to restrictions on ballot access for the initiative power. *Wirzburger v. Galvin*, 412 F.3d 271 (1st Cir. 2005) (First Amendment applies to subject matter restrictions); *Marijuana Policy Project v. United States*, 304 F.3d 82 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (First Amendment does not apply); *Initiative & Referendum Inst. v. Walker*, 450 F.3d 1082 (10th Cir. 2006) (same); *see also, for review of the circuit court split*, Anna Skiba-Crafts, *Conditions on Taking the Initiative: The First Amendment Implications of Subject Matter Restrictions on Ballot Initiatives*, 107 MICH. L. REV. 1305 (2009).

⁷ The Opinion held "Neither the injunction nor the principles on which it is based distinguish among measures or in associated speech activities on the basis of content or subject matter."

^{8 &}quot;As a general rule, laws that by their terms distinguish favored speech from disfavored speech on the basis of the ideas or views expressed are content-based." *Turner Broadcasting System, Inc. v. Fed. Comm. Commn.*, 512 U.S. 622 (1994) (citing, as examples, "*Burson v. Freeman,* 504 U.S. 191, 197 [...] (1992) ("Whether individuals may exercise their free-speech rights near polling places depends entirely on whether their speech is related to a political campaign"); *Boos v. Barry,* 485 U.S. 312, 318-319 [...] (1988) (plurality opinion) (whether ordinance permits individuals to "picket in front of a foreign embassy depends entirely upon whether their picket signs are critical of the foreign government or not")). It is the act of discriminating on the basis of content that makes a government restriction content-based, regardless of whether the government does so for an asserted content-neutral purpose. *Id.* at 642-43 ("Nor will the mere assertion of a content-neutral purpose be enough to save a law which, on its face, discriminates based on content." (citations omitted)).

Amendment means that government has no power to restrict expression because of its message, its ideas, its subject matter or its content." *Police Dept. of Chicago v. Mosley*, 408 U.S. 92, 95-96 (1972). "Content-based regulations are presumptively invalid." *R.A.V. v. City of St. Paul*, 505 U.S. 377, 382 (1992).

This Court defines content-based and content-neutral similarly for the Washington Constitution. *See Collier v. City of Tacoma*, 121 Wn.2d 737, 746, 854 P.2d 1046 (1993).⁹ Notably, when analyzing whether the law at issue in *Collier* was content-based, the Court observed that "[t]he trial court found that Tacoma Public Works Department personnel have to read the signs in order to determine whether they are prohibited at a particular time." *Id.* at 749.

Here, the Court of Appeals professed a content-neutral purpose: enjoining proposed laws that are ostensibly "beyond the local initiative power." (Op. at 14.) But that content-neutral purpose is not enough to make its action content-neutral, because what the trial court actually did was entirely content-based: the court looked at the text of the initiatives and thereby decided whether to veto them because of their subject matter.

^{9 &}quot;We recognize that the free speech clauses of the state and federal constitutions are different in wording and effect, but that the result reached by previous Washington cases in general adopted much of the federal methodology for application to state constitutional cases. The federal cases cited here and in our prior decisions are used for the purpose of guidance and do not themselves compel the result the court reaches under our state constitution." (citation omitted).

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