FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/17/2019 4:27 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 96575-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PORT OF TACOMA, a Washington State Municipal Corporation; ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BOARD FOR TACOMA-PIERCE COUNTY, a Washington state Non-profit Corporation; TACOMA-PIERCE COUNTY CHAMBER, a Washington State Non-profit corporation, and CITY OF TACOMA,

Respondents.

v.

SAVE TACOMA WATER, a Washington political committee,

Appellant,

JOHN AND JANE DOES 1-5 (Individual sponsors and officers of Save Tacoma Water), Donna Walters, Sherry Bockwinkel, City of Tacoma, Julie Anderson in her official capacity as Pierce County Auditor,

Defendants.

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

STW ignores this authority, and its argument amounts to a contention that citizens of municipalities should be permitted, through the local initiative power, to exempt themselves from certain state and federal laws with which they disagree. *See* Petition at 8, 18. That is not the law. As this Court recently held, unlike the statewide initiative power, the local initiative power is subject to applicable limits in statutes and municipal charters as well as the "multiple limits" courts have imposed through decades of case authority. *Protect Pub. Health*, 430 P.3d at 643 (quoting *Spokane Moves*, 185 Wn.2d at 107). These limitations on local initiatives

are mere extensions of the limitations on initiatives in general, including state initiatives. *See Spokane Moves*, 185 Wn.2d at 104-105 (discussing the nature of review for state and local initiatives). For example, just as state initiatives cannot legislate on subject matters preempted by federal law, local initiatives cannot legislate on subject matters preempted by state law. *See Philadelphia II v. Gregoire*, 128 Wn.2d 707, 719, 911 P.2d 389 (1996) (holding it was not within the scope of state initiative power to enact federal law); *Seattle Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council*, 94 Wn.2d at 747 (stating local municipality may not enact initiative which conflicts with state law). Finally, the initiative powers in Tacoma City Charter Section 2.18 and 2.19 are by their own terms subordinate to state law.³

In sum, STW's claim of a novel right to local community selfgovernment is contrary to established limitations on local legislation and raises no significant constitutional question.

2. Pre-election Review of Local Initiatives Comports with Separation of Powers Principles.

Limited pre-election review of local initiatives ensures that the people act within the scope of the local legislative power to enact law.

Such limited review fits well within our system of checks and balances

³ Charter Section 2.18 ("Amendments to this charter may be submitted to the voters by the City Council or by initiative petition of the voters in the manner provided by the state constitution and laws."); Section 2.19 ("Citizens of Tacoma may by initiative petition ask the voters to approve or reject ordinances or amendments to existing ordinances, <u>subject</u> to any limitation on topics in state law") (emphasis added).

and raises no separation of powers concerns. STW's arguments to the contrary mischaracterize the nature of local initiatives and disregard the power of the courts to interpret the law. STW thus fails to raise a significant constitutional question under the separation of powers doctrine.

The separation of powers doctrine ensures each branch of government's fundamental functions remain inviolate. *Carrick v. Locke*, 125 Wn.2d 129, 135, 882 P.2d 173 (1994). The doctrine is implicated where the activity of one branch threatens the independence or integrity or invades the prerogatives of another. *Id.* (internal citation omitted). Separation of powers, however, "does not depend on the branches of government being hermetically sealed off from one another." *Id.* Rather, separate branches "must remain partially intertwined" in order to "maintain an effective system of checks and balances, as well as an effective government." *Id.*

Limited pre-election review of local initiatives is part of this balancing system. The judiciary's province and duty is to interpret the law, in some instances as a check on the activities of another branch.

Matter of Salary of Juvenile Dir., 87 Wn.2d 232, 241, 244, 552 P.2d 163 (1976) (internal citations omitted); Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. (1 Cranch) 137, 177, 2 L.Ed. 60 (1803). Relevant here, courts have long recognized the people's power of local initiative as provided in municipal charters,

but have also recognized limits on such power under the state constitution and laws. *Protect Pub. Health*, 430 P.3d at 643 (describing the limits on local initiative power); *see also State v. Superior Court In & For Thurston Cty.*, 92 Wash. 16, 26, 159 P. 92, 94 (1916) (stating the people's initiative power in Washington is subordinate to the Constitution and laws passed in obedience and compliance with the Constitution). These limits are enforced, in part, by judicial review of whether proposed local initiatives exceed the scope of the local initiative power.

The "strictly limit[ed]" scope of pre-election review ensures that such review does not violate separation of powers. *Spokane Moves*, 185 Wn.2d at 104. Contrary to STW's argument that courts permit "any legal challenge" to an initiative pre-election, *see* Petition at 8, "[c]ourts will generally review only two types of challenges—procedural challenges (such as sufficiency of signatures and ballot titles) and whether the subject matter is proper for direct legislation." *Spokane Moves*, 185 Wn.2d at 104 (internal citation omitted). The latter challenge type is "typically aimed at local initiatives because of the more limited powers of initiatives under city or county charters." *Id*. Rather than assessing an initiative's substance or prudence, this challenge type is confined to reviewing whether the proposed law is beyond the scope of those limited powers. *Id*.

This narrowly defined scope of pre-election review takes into

account separation of powers principles. *See Spokane Moves*, 185 Wn.2d at 104 (expressly stating that the strict limits on pre-election review are in place to address concerns about interfering with the electoral and legislative process and about improperly issuing advisory opinions). The Court of Appeals properly recognized this. *See* Opinion at 7 (observing this Court has upheld considerations "at the heart of the inquiry into the separation of powers," when applying pre-election review of local initiatives). STW cites no contrary authority.⁴

Nonetheless, STW likens pre-election review to enjoining proposed legislation by a local government. This analogy fails. First, the local initiative power is already inherently more limited than the power of a local law making body. *See Our Water–Our Choice*!, 170 Wn.2d at 8 (local administrative matters not subject to initiative or referendum); *City of Sequim v. Malkasian*, 157 Wn.2d 251, 261, 138 P.3d (2006) (local initiative power does not reach powers granted to governing body of a city, rather than the city itself). Second, just like legislation proposed by a city council, proposed initiatives would be subject to <u>substantive</u> challenge only after passage. *Spokane Moves*, 185 Wn.2d at 105 (stating the limits

-

⁴ STW's critiques the Court of Appeals' decision on this point as improperly relying on "implicit holdings." Petition at 9. STW misunderstands the Court's analysis, which recognized that separation of powers concerns were fundamental to this Court's long-standing approval of limited pre-election review. Moreover, STW cites no substantive basis on which to question the Court of Appeals' well-reasoned analysis of this Court's decisions. STW's philosophical disagreement is not enough.

on pre-election review ensure that courts "do not address the substantive validity of a statute <u>before it is enacted</u>"). Pre-election review is properly limited to whether the initiative is within the inherently more limited scope of the local initiative power. This Court has repeatedly acknowledged and upheld such limitations. *Id.* at 107.⁵

In sum, as this Court has recognized, pre-election review of local initiatives furthers the separation of powers. STW offers no authority to the contrary and thus fails to raise a constitutional question.

3. Pre-election Review of Local Initiatives Does Not Violate Free Speech Rights.

STW devotes the bulk of its Petition to arguing that pre-election review of local initiatives violates the First Amendment as a "content-based" restriction on speech or an unlawful prior restraint. STW fails to cite applicable authority raising constitutional issues warranting review.

a.) There is no First Amendment Right to Place an Invalid Initiative on the Ballot.

At the outset, STW's First Amendment claims should be rejected because STW does not defend its sponsored Initiatives, nor contend their exclusion was substantively improper under applicable Washington law.

Rather, the thrust of STW's speech arguments is that every citizen has a

⁵ STW claims without support that this Court's decision in *Spokane Moves* removed the distinction between scope and substantive review. Petition at 10. To the contrary, *Spokane Moves* emphasized the importance of the scope analysis and detailed its limitations. 185 Wn.2d at 104-105.

constitutional right to require an election, funded by a municipality, on <u>any</u> initiative, even when patently invalid on its face. No case holds this, and STW fails to address the published Court of Appeals' opinion holding the opposite. *See City of Longview v. Wallin*, 174 Wn. App. 763, 791-92, 301 P.3d 45 (2013), *review denied*, 178 Wn.2d 1020, 312 P.3d 650 (2013) (declining to find a "First Amendment right to have any initiative, regardless of whether it is outside the scope of the initiative power, placed on the ballot."). ⁶

Rather, STW contests the Court of Appeals' reliance on *Angle v*. *Miller*, 673 F.3d 1122 (9th Cir. 2012), a Ninth Circuit case that reached the same conclusion set forth in *Wallin*. *Angle* concerned a Nevada state law that required statewide initiative proponents to collect a certain number of signatures from each congressional district ("All Districts Rule"). 673 F.3d at 1126. The plaintiffs alleged that the law violated the First Amendment "by significantly increasing the burdens and expenses placed upon individuals seeking to qualify initiatives for the ballot." *Id*. at 1127. The Ninth Circuit ultimately rejected these claims and upheld the

-

⁶ Other courts have come to similar conclusions. *See Initiative and Referendum Inst. v. Walker*, 450 F.3d 1082, 1099 (10th Cir. 2006) ("Although the First Amendment protects political speech incident to an initiative campaign, it does not protect the right to make law, by initiative or otherwise."); *Wright v. Mahan*, 478 F.Supp. 468, 474 (E.D.Va. 1979) ("[A] right to petition for, have access to the ballot for, and vote in a municipal initiative election, is a wholly State created right, and is not a right secured by the federal Constitution. . .").

All Districts Rule, holding the burden was not significant and that strict scrutiny did not apply. *Id.* at 1134.

Here, the Court of Appeals appropriately relied on Angle for the broad and relevant proposition that "[t]here is no First Amendment right to place an initiative on the ballot." Opinion at 13; 673 F.3d at 1133. In its Petition, however, STW argues that the Court of Appeals should have invoked Angle to evaluate the "burden" placed on proponents of local initiatives by limited pre-election review. Petition at 12. This analogy fails for multiple reasons. First, Angle did not concern local initiatives, which as detailed above, are subject to greater restrictions than statewide initiatives. Second, recognizing there is no "First Amendment right to place an initiative on the ballot," the burden analysis in Angle focused on whether the challenged regulation would impact core political speech by reducing the chances that initiative proponents would gather enough signatures to qualify their initiatives. *Angle*, 673 F.3d at 1133-34. There are no analogous "ballot access restrictions" at issue in this case and no limitations on STW's speech. Finally, as the Court of Appeals properly observed, STW fails to cite any authority "for the proposition that one has a free speech right to have a local measure beyond the scope of the initiative power appear on a ballot." Opinion at 13. The Petition should be denied.

b.) Pre-Election Review is Neither an Unlawful Content-Based Restriction nor a Prior Restraint on Speech.

Pre-election review does not amount to unconstitutional content-based restriction on speech. Such review does not distinguish among measures based on the speaker or content of the measure. For this reason the cases STW relies on, *Police Department of Chicago v. Mosely*, 408 U.S. 92 (1972), and *Collier v. City of Tacoma*, 121 Wn.2d 737, 854 P.2d 1046 (1993), are inapposite. Those cases concerned laws that directly prohibited speech in public forums based on the message conveyed. *Mosely*, 408 U.S. at 94-96; *Collier*, 121 Wn.2d at 746-48, 52-53.

By contrast, pre-election review asks only whether the subject matter of the measure is beyond the scope of local initiative power or not. *Spokane Moves*, 185 Wn.2d at 104. As the Court of Appeals properly concluded, the superior court's decision "rests on the principles that a measure is beyond the local initiative power if it is administrative or in conflict with state law." Opinion at 14. The same test would have been applied and appropriate regardless of the type of policy or message STW wished to convey. In short, no authority equates pre-election review with content-based discrimination under the First Amendment.

-

⁷ STW's argument that "[t]he issue is not whether the ballot is a public forum," Petition at 10, n.2 thus conflicts with its reliance on *Mosley* and *Collier*, which are in fact dependent upon the forum analysis. *See* 408 U.S. 92, 94-96 (1972) (analyzing the restricted area as a "public place" and "public forum" throughout); 121 Wn.2d at 746-48 (analyzing ordinances at issue as time, place, manner restrictions in public forum).

Nor is pre-election review of local initiatives an unlawful prior restraint on speech. A prior restraint is an order prohibiting future speech. Voters Educ. Comm. v. Washington State Pub. Disclosure Comm'n, 161 Wn.2d 470, 494, 166 P.3d 1174 (2007). Pre-election review does not target, let alone prohibit future speech—it determines only whether proposed local initiatives are within the scope of local initiative power. Spokane Moves, 185 Wn.2d at 104. STW's citation to Meyer v. Grant, 486 U.S. 414, 421-22 (1988) is thus not on point. Petition at 15-17. There, the Court invalidated a state law prohibiting paid petition-signature gatherers because the law directly restricted who was able to convey the initiative's message, thereby limiting the people's ability to have their voices heard through the initiative process. 486 U.S. at 424-25. Preelection review imposes no such restrictions. As STW concedes, it was free to (and did) gather signatures to support the Initiatives, submit them to the county auditor, and have them counted. Petition at 6. STW freely exercised its First Amendment rights. See Meyer, 486 U.S. at 421-22 ("[T]he circulation of [an initiative] petition involves the type of interactive communication" that is "appropriately described as 'core political speech.") (emphasis added); Buckley v. Am. Constitutional Law Found., Inc., 525 U.S. 182, 192-205 (1999) (holding that various restrictions on petition circulation infringed on First Amendment rights).

4. The Standards for Pre-Election Review are Well-Established.

Finally, STW claims that this Court should accept review in part because courts have "never articulated review standards" for pre-election review, thereby allowing it to become an "illegitimate political weapon." Petition at 19-20. Citing a single law review article, STW ignores the dozens of cases that have in fact established and defined the appropriate standards for pre-election review of local initiatives.

Most recently, in *Spokane Moves*, this Court plainly identified the two limited types of pre-election review: procedural and scope. 185 Wn.2d at 104. Relevant here, an initiative exceeds the scope of the local initiative power (1) if it is administrative, furthering or hindering an adopted plan of local government; (2) if it involves powers granted by the legislature to the governing body of a city rather than the city itself; or (3) if it conflicts with state or federal law. *Id.* at 107-108, 110. This Court also described the parameters of each of those inquiries. *See id.* at 107-109. Further "articulation" of standards is unnecessary. In sum, STW has not raised a significant question of constitutional law warranting this Court's review. The Petition should be denied.

B. STW Fails to Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Tellingly, STW identifies no specific issue of substantial public interest in its Petition. Rather, STW summarily claims that all of the

issues identified in its Petition constitute both constitutional questions and public interest issues. STW's failure to adequately brief the public interest argument waives it. Petition at 8; *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v*. *Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (the court need not consider arguments that are not developed); *see also* RAP 10.3(a)(6).

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